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Re: City of Tucson Proposition 413; Potential Recount
Dear Secretary Fontes,
We have an interesting election issue here in Tucson.

On November 21, 2023, the Pima County Board of Supervisors and the City of Tucson
Mayor and Council each approved the canvass of the November 7, 2023 election, which
included the canvass of the results in the City of Tucson special election called for voter
consideration of Proposition 413 (hereafter, “P413). P413 is a ballot measure that
proposed an amendment to the Tucson Charter to adjust the salaries of the City of Tucson
mayor and each councilmember. As a municipal charter amendment, P413 was called and
administered as a special election, held concurrently with the November 7, 2023 general
election. Pima County administered this special election on the City’s behalf pursuant to
an intergovernmental agreement (IGA).

P413 was narrowly approved by the City’s voters, with the vote totals coming in as:
YES 47,165

NO 46,876

The canvass confirms that the margin of votes cast for P413 versus against P413 (289
votes) as compared to the total number of votes cast (94,041) is less than % of 1%.

As you might imagine, this narrow margin prompted me to review the election recount
provisions codified in A.R.S. §§16-661 through -667, including the recent amendments
approved by the Arizona Legislature, so that I could guide the City Clerk and the Mayor
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Factual Background

On June 6, 2023, the City of Tucson Mayor and Council adopted Ordinance 12011,
calling a Special Election on November 7, 2023, to submit to the city’s voters a proposed
Charter amendment recommended by the Citizens’ Commission on Public Service and
Compensation. This proposed Charter amendment ultimately became Proposition 413
(P413), which as approved by the electorate now amends the Tucson Charter to adjust the
salaries of the City’s elected officials (the Mayor and each council member) effective
December 4, 2023.3

As noted above, on November 21, 2023 both Pima County (which administered the
Special Election pursuant to an IGA with the City of Tucson) and the City of Tucson
(through its Mayor and Council) approved the canvass of P413, certifying that the vote
totals resulted in its approval by a margin of 289 votes. Based on the direction provided
by the Mayor and Council, I'm writing to you now to explain my position on the issue of
whether P413 is subject to a recount under the Recount Statutes; and to ask you to
consider and share your opinion on this issue.

Legal Arguments and Conclusion

In my position as the City Attorney for the City of Tucson, I have the responsibility to
provide legal advice to the various City officials relating to their performance of the duties
and responsibilities of their office. In this capacity, I examined the issue of whether the
Recount Statutes require or authorize a recount of the election results for P413 so that I
could provide appropriate legal advice to the City Clerk and to the Mayor and Council. 1
have determined that the Recount Statutes do NOT require or authorize a recount of P413.
Here is my analysis:

I. Recounts of a canvassed vote can only occur when expressly authorized by
state statute.

Arizona law is very clear that the proceedings for a recount of votes cast at an election
are strictly and purely statutory. Recounts are only legal if they are plainly authorized by
adopted Arizona statute. In fact, the burden is on the person or persons seeking a
judicially-ordered recount to point out a statutory law vesting that authority in the court;
and without express statutory authority, courts cannot order a recount. Barrera v.
Superior Court, In And For Graham County, 117 Ariz. 528 (Ariz.App. 1977). It is also
plainly true that the governing body of an Arizona city — such as the Tucson Mayor and

3 The publicity pamphlet for the November 7, 2023 elections is available here:
https://www.tucsonaz.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/clerks/documents/elections/choi
ce-is-yours-final-ge-11-7-23 .pdf
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Additionally, A.R.S. §16-661(A) includes “referred measures” within the clause
describing “initiated or referred measures or proposals to amend the Constitution of
Arizona.” Context is important here. The statute is plainly only attempting to capture state
elections, given that “proposals to amend the Constitution of Arizona™ are necessarily
placed in state elections. In fact, on this point, we don’t have to speculate about the
Legislature’s intent — which is always a dangerous exercise. Fortunately, the Arizona
Supreme Court addressed and resolved this very issue more than 100 years ago (and just
a few years prior to the Legislature’s first enactment of the recount statutes in 1925). In
1919, the Arizona Supreme Court decided an election contest case involving the removal
of a county seat in McCall v. City of Tombstone, 21 Ariz. 161 (1919). In McCall, the court
examined statutory language that established the right to bring an election contest in
connection with a general election “to a state office or * * * constitutional amendment or
other question submitted to vote of the people.” [emphasis added].® The election at issue
in McCall was a county special election called by Cochise County regarding the removal
of the county seat from Tombstone. The parties contesting this election argued that: (1)
because the statute allowed contests to “other questions submitted to a vote of the people”
(i.e., ballot propositions), they had the right to contest it, even though it was a county
election and not a state election; and (2) because the law governing special elections
provided that “every special election shall be conducted in the same manner as general
elections, and all laws of a general nature governing elections of county officers shall
govern such elections as far as applicable,” that Cochise County’s special election was
subject to the election contest provisions that applied in statewide general elections.

The Supreme Court had no difficulty in recognizing that the language of the election
contest statute as quoted could only be read to apply exclusively to state elections, and
not to a county special election. The Court also rejected the argument that the requirement
that special elections be conducted in the same manner as general elections somehow
extended the scope of the election contest statute so that it might apply to the Cochise
County special election. “The fact that, under the general election law, provision is made
for contesting the election of state and county offices, constitutional amendments and
other state-wide propositions, and the election to county and municipal offices, will not
imply a grant of jurisdiction to the courts to hear and determine contested county seat

> This quote is as it appeared in the McCall decision. The actual language of the election
contest statute as it existed at the time provided as follows:

Any elector of the state may contest the election of any person who is
declared elected to a state office, or the declared result upon a constitutional
amendment or other question submitted to vote of the people upon the
following grounds:. . . .”” Ariz. Civ. Code (1913) tit. 12, § 3060.
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to review this issue — especially since the Recount Statutes, if they apply, establish duties
that fall to you as the Secretary of State to carry out.®

If you need or desire any further information from me, don’t hesitate to reach out by
phone (my cell is or email (mike.rankin@tucsonaz.gov).

Sincerely,

G ——

Mike Rankin
City Attorney

MR/dg

8 I’m well aware of the provisions of A R.S. §16-403, which provides that in city or
town elections, the duties devolving on the secretary of state in other elections shall
“devolve on the mayor or similar governing officer, board or commission, and the
duties prescribed in this chapter devolving on the clerk of the board of supervisors shall
devolve on the city or town clerk.” However, [ don’t think this statute applies to the
issues here, given that the Recount Statutes themselves serve to distinguish between the
roles and responsibilities of the Secretary of State and any local officials, including the
mayor and the city clerk.
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